

RQIA Infection Prevention/Hygiene Unannounced Inspection South Eastern Health and Social Care Trust

Lagan Valley Hospital

22 January 2014

informing and improving health and social care www.rqia.org.uk

Contents

1.0	Regulation and Quality Improvement Authority	1
2.0	The Inspection Programme	1
3.0	Inspection Summary	2
4.0	Overall Compliance Rates	5
5.0	General Environment	6
6.0	Patient Linen	9
7.0	Waste and Sharps	10
8.0	Patient Equipment	12
9.0	Hygiene Factors	13
10.0	Hygiene Practice	14
11.0	Key Personnel and Information	16
12.0	Summary of Recommendations	17
13.0	Unannounced Inspection Flowchart	19
14.0	RQIA Hygiene Team Escalation Policy Flowchart	20
15.0	Quality Improvement Action Plan	21

1.0 Regulation and Quality Improvement Authority

The Regulation and Quality Improvement Authority (RQIA) is the independent body responsible for regulating and inspecting the quality and availability of health and social care (HSC) services in Northern Ireland.

RQIA's reviews and inspections are designed to identify best practice, to highlight gaps or shortfalls in services requiring improvement and to protect the public interest.

Our Hygiene and Infection Prevention and Control inspections are carried out by a dedicated team of inspectors, supported by peer reviewers from all trusts who have the relevant experience and knowledge. Our reports are available on the RQIA website at <u>www.rqia.org.uk</u>.

2.0 The Inspection Programme

A rolling programme of unannounced inspections has been developed by RQIA to assess compliance with the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleanliness Standards, using the regionally agreed Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleanliness audit tool <u>www.rqia.org.uk</u>.

Inspections focus on cleanliness, infection prevention and control, clinical practice and the fabric of the environment and facilities.

RQIA also carries out announced inspections. These examine the governance arrangements and systems in place to ensure that environmental cleanliness and infection prevention and control policies and procedures are working in practice.

Unannounced inspections are conducted with no prior notice. Facilities receive six weeks' notice in advance of an announced inspection, but no details of the areas to be inspected.

The inspection programme includes acute hospital settings and other areas such as: community hospitals; mental health and learning disability facilities; primary care settings; the Northern Ireland Ambulance Service; and other specialist and regulated services, as and when required. Inspections may be targeted to areas of public concern, or themed to focus on a particular type of hospital, area or process.

Further details of the inspection methodology and process are found on the RQIA website <u>www.rqia.org.uk</u>.

3.0 Inspection Summary

An unannounced inspection was undertaken to the Lagan Valley Hospital on the 22 January 2014. The inspection team was made up of two inspectors. Details of the inspection team and trust representatives attending the feedback session can be found in Section 11.0.

The Lagan Valley Hospital was previously inspected on the 14 September 2011. This was an unannounced inspection; three wards were inspected by the RQIA team. The results of the inspection showed that in all three wards there was compliance in all but one of the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleanliness standards. The inspection reports of those inspections are available on the RQIA website <u>www.rgia.org.uk</u>.

The hospital was assessed against the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleanliness Standards and the following area was inspected:

• Ward 14 – Medical/Stroke

This report highlights areas of strengths as well as areas for further improvement, including recommendations.

Overall the inspection team found evidence that the Lagan Valley Hospital was working to comply with the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleanliness standards.

Inspectors observed that two of the seven standards of the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleanliness Standards were compliant. Four of the standards were partially compliant and one standard was minimally compliant.

Inspectors observed the following areas of good practice:



Picture 1: Patient information leaflets

- There was good information and leaflets displayed for patients (Picture 1)
- The ward has been painted in dementia patient friendly colours
- The newly appointed infection prevention and control link nurse displayed good knowledge
- The trust is developing a framework to roll out learning from RQIA inspections to all wards within the trust

Inspectors found that further improvement was required in the following areas:

- Standards and sections which are not compliant require immediate action to bring them up to a compliant level
- Particular attention should be given to improve the environment standard which was non-compliant overall

The inspection of the Lagan Valley Hospital, South Eastern Health and Social Care Trust, resulted in **24** recommendations for Ward 14.

A full list of recommendations is listed in Section 12.0.

Inspectors noted the following recurring themes from previous inspections:

- More attention to improving environmental cleaning, clutter, maintenance and repair
- Incorrect segregation or storage of waste and sharps
- The availability of hand washing sinks
- The cleanliness of domestic equipment

The South Eastern Health and Social Care Trust should ensure that sustained efforts are made to address recurring issues.

A detailed list of the findings is forwarded to the trust within 14 days of the inspection. This enables early action on all areas within the audit which require improvement. (The findings are available on request from RQIA Infection Prevention and Hygiene Team).

The final report and Quality Improvement Action Plan will be available on the RQIA website. When required reports and action plans will be subject to performance management by the Health and Social Care Board and the Public Health Agency.

The RQIA inspection team would like to thank the South Eastern Health and Social Care Trust and in particular all staff at the Lagan Valley Hospital for their assistance during the inspection.

4.0 Overall compliance rates

Compliance rates are based on the scores achieved in the various sections of the Regional Healthcare Hygiene and Cleaniliness Audit Tool.

The audit tool is comprised of the following sections:

- Organisational Systems and Governance
- General Environment
- Patient Linen
- Waste and Sharps
- Patient Equipment
- Hygiene Factors
- Hygiene Practices

The section on organisational systems and governance is reviewed on announced inspections.

Table 1 below summarises the overall compliance levels achieved.Percentage scores can be allocated a level of compliance using the
compliance categories below.

Ward	Ward 14
Environment	75
Patient Linen	77
Waste	82
Sharps	82
Equipment	78
Hygiene Factors	93
Hygiene Practices	90
Total	82

Compliant: Partial Compliance: Minimal Compliance: 85% or above 76% to 84% 75% or below

5.0 Standard 2: General Environment

For organisations to comply with this standard they must provide an environment which is well maintained, visibly clean, free from dust and soilage. A clean, tidy and well maintained environment is an important foundation to promote patient, visitor and staff confidence and support other infection prevention and control measures.

Environment	Ward 14
Reception	64
Corridors, stairs lift	70
Public toilets	N/A
Ward/department – general (communal)	77
Patient bed area	90
Bathroom/washroom	84
Toilet	77
Clinical room/treatment room	67
Clean utility room	N/A
Dirty utility room	73
Domestic store	64
Kitchen	73
Equipment store	57
Isolation	95
General information	84
Total	75

The findings in the table above indicate that the general environment and cleaning in Ward 14 required immediate action for the ward to achieve compliance.

A high standard of cleaning and well maintained public areas such as the reception, corridors and stairs promote public confidence in the standards set by the hospital. Maintenance, repair and cleaning issues were identified in these areas.

The main entrance reception, corridors and stairwell leading to the ward required more attention to detail in relation to the cleaning of cigarette butts on the ground outside the reception entrance, dust on skirting, floor carpet, edges and corners, lights, windows and high and low horizontal surfaces. There was chipped paintwork on skirting, wall damage outside the psychiatric ward entrance and damage to Ward 14 entrance door. The main entrance reception and underneath the stairwell was cluttered with equipment, storage trolleys, unused linen bags and a large box. There was no waste bin in the reception for the disposal of waste; rubbish was observed on a table. The key findings in respect of the general environment for the ward are detailed in the following section.

Within the environment section of the audit tool inspectors found immediate action is required in relation to the minimally compliant sections within this standard.

Areas within the ward that required most attention are the clinical room, dirty utility room, domestic store, equipment store and kitchen. The key findings in respect of the general environment are detailed in the following points.

• Common cleaning issues throughout the ward were cleaning external windows, flooring, especially corners and edges, horizontal surfaces, cupboards and air vents.



Picture 2: Cluttered clinical work surface

- There were insufficient storage facilities throughout the ward. Patient areas, clinical rooms, equipment store and shelving throughout the ward were cluttered with equipment and supplies (Picture 2). A cluttered environment, with inaccessible areas and storage on the floor, impedes effective cleaning.
- Damage was observed to wooden surfaces, dado rails, doors, formica on mailbox storage units and unsecure shelving. The enamel on the domestic sluice sink was chipped and the wooden strip was worn. Cork and fabric notice boards were present in the clinical room and kitchen. For effective cleaning, surfaces should be free from damage and impervious to moisture.
- In the shower room the window lock was broken and the sill was cracked. The shower door crevices required cleaning and a communal bar of soap was present. There was no shower curtain present and the disabled pull cord was tied up. In the toilet, beside the nurses' station, there was no ventilation and a strong smell of urine was present. There was no toilet roll holder and the toilet brush was stained. The raised toilet seat was screwed to the floor and unable to be cleaned underneath. The inside of the raised toilet seat was worn.

- Bedrails were chipped and some formica bed ends were old and worn. Bedside privacy curtains were not long enough to fully enclose the patient's bed. Two curtains were hung overlapped on the curtain rail; however gaps were noted in these curtains.
- In the domestic store there was no dedicated hand washing sink or consumables. In the dirty utility room there was no bedpan rack. Inspectors noted that bedpans were wet when removed from the bedpan washer.
- The hand washing and equipment sink in the kitchen and the sluice sink in the domestic store required cleaning. The caps were missing from taps in the kitchen equipment sink. In the clinical room the fridge was old, worn and the front was damaged. In the kitchen decanted coffee was not stored in a sealed container.
- Hand hygiene posters were not displayed at all hand wash sinks and not all posters were laminated. There was no National Patient Safety Agency (NPSA) cleaning colour coded poster displayed for nursing staff to reference. Nursing cleaning schedules were not completed.

6.0 Standard 3: Patient Linen

For organisations to comply with this standard, patient linen should be clean, free of damage, handled safely and stored in a clean and tidy environment. The provision of an adequate laundry service is a fundamental requirement of direct patient care. Linen should be managed in accordance with HSG 95(18).

Linen	Ward 14
Storage of clean linen	74
Handling and storage of used linen	80
Laundry facilities	N/A
Total	77

The above table outlines the findings in relation to the management of patient linen. Ward 14 achieved minimal compliance in relation to the storage of clean linen and partial compliance in the management of used patient linen.

The issues identified for improvement were:

- Clean linen was stored cluttered on shelving. Curtains were over spilling from shelving onto the floor
- There was inappropriate storage of a ladder, outdoor coats and patient property in the store
- The clean linen store skirting, especially inaccessible areas required cleaning
- A blood stained towel was inappropriately disposed of into the used linen stream rather than into an alginate bag
- Used linen bags were more than 2/3 full
- The large linen storage skip required cleaning

7.0 Standard 4: Waste and Sharps

For organisations to comply with this standard they must ensure that waste is managed in accordance with HTM07-01and Hazardous Waste (Northern Ireland) Regulations (2005). The safe segregation, handling, transport and disposal of waste and sharps can, if not properly managed, present risks to the health and safety of staff, patients, the public and the environment.

Waste bins in all clinical areas should be labelled, foot operated and encased. This promotes appropriate segregation, and prevents contamination of hands from handling the waste bin lids. Inappropriate waste segregation can be a potential hazard and can increase the cost of waste disposal.

Sharps boxes must be labelled and signed on assembly and disposal. Identification of the origin of sharps waste in the event of spillage or injury to staff is vital this also assists in the immediate risk assessment process following a sharps injury.

Waste and sharps	Ward 14
Handling, segregation, storage, waste	82
Availability, use, storage of sharps	82

The above table indicates that Ward 14 achieved partial compliance in the handling, segregation and storage of waste and in the availability, use, and storage of sharps. Issues identified for improvement in this section of the audit tool were:

7.1 Management of Waste

- Gloves and a medicine cup were disposed of into a house waste bin
- The lid of the purple lidded burn bin was stained
- The lid of the house hold waste bin in bay B was rusted and broken. The underside of house hold waste bin lid in bays D and A were stained
- In the dirty utility room the underside of the clinical waste bin was rusted. The lids of the clinical waste bins in bay B, D and A required cleaning. The waste label on the clinical waste bin in the dirty utility room and in bay A was peeling

7.2 Management of Sharps



Picture 3: Sharps box with unsecure lid and re-sheathed needles

- The lid of two sharps boxes in the treatment were not attached securely (Picture 3)
- One sharps box was not labeled correctly; locality, date, signature
- Two sharps trays were stained with hibiscrub

8.0 Standard 5.0: Patient Equipment

For organisations to comply with this standard they must ensure that patient equipment is appropriately decontaminated. The Northern Ireland Regional Infection Prevention and Control Manual, states that all staff that have specific responsibilities for cleaning of equipment must be familiar with the agents to be used and the procedures involved. COSHH regulations must be adhered to when using chemical disinfectants.

Any ward, department or facility which has a specialised item of equipment should produce a decontamination protocol for that item. This should be in keeping with the principles of disinfection and the manufacturer's instructions.

Patient Equipment	Ward 14	
Patient equipment	78	

The table above outlines that Ward 14 was partially compliant in this standard and requires immediate action. The key issues identified for improvement in this section of the audit tool were:

- Stocks on IV fluid bags were not rotated bags dated 2014 were found under bags dated 2015
- One staff member was not aware of the symbol for single use
- Equipment was old, worn and damaged; bedpans, catheter stands, commode, IV stands, drugs trolley, linen trolley and manual handling equipment
- Patient wash bowls were stored wet and stacked in the dirty utility room. An old unused commode basin was stored inside the bowls
- The drugs trolley was stained with orange liquid. The shelf on both trolleys was cluttered. A stored fan was dusty and metal IV trays were stained and had equipment present which had not been put away after use. The ice machine scoop was stored in an unsealed container and there was food debris in the edges of a wheelchair frame
- The was no signage on the treatment room door to denote the storage of oxygen
- Staff advised that there is no routine cleaning regime for medicine round tabards

9.0 Standard 6: Hygiene Factors

For organisations to comply with this standard they must ensure that a range of fixtures, fittings and equipment is available so that hygiene practices can be carried out effectively.

Hygiene Factors	Ward 14
Availability and cleanliness of WHB and consumables	93
Availability of alcohol rub	97
Availability of PPE	100
Materials and equipment for cleaning	80
Total	93

The above table indicates that Ward 14 achieved overall compliance in this standard. However the section on materials and cleaning equipment was partially compliant.

The key issues identified for improvement in this section of the audit tool were:

- The ratio 1:6 of hand washing sinks in bed bays was not in line with local/national guidelines. There was no clinical hand washing sink in the treatment room or dirty utility room
- Some consumable dispensers were damaged or required cleaning. There was no hand pump moisturiser available
- Cleaning solutions in the dirty utility room were not stored securely in line with COSHH regulations
- A clean mop head was stored on top of a dirty mop bucket, a used mop head attached to a mop shaft was stored in a bucket of dirty water.
- Domestic equipment was old, worn or required cleaning; domestic trolley, mop buckets, mop head, burnisher and vacuum cleaner (Picture 4)



Picture 4: Dirty vacuum cleaner

10.0 Standard 7: Hygiene Practices

For organisations to comply with this standard they must ensure that healthcare hygiene practices are embedded into the delivery of care and related services.

Hygiene Practices	Ward 14
Effective hand hygiene procedures	90
Safe handling and disposal of sharps	78
Effective use of PPE	95
Correct use of isolation	N/A
Effective cleaning of ward	88
Staff uniform and work wear	100
Total	90

The table indicated overall compliance with this standard. However the section on safe handling and disposal of sharps was partially compliant.

The key issues identified for improvement in this section of the audit tool were:



Picture 5: Alcohol gel dispenser

- Alcohol gel dispensers were available throughout the ward (Picture 5). However one staff member did not carry out the 7 step hand hygiene technique when using alcohol gel. One staff member did not decontaminate their hands before serving meals.
- Three needles were re-sheathed in sharps boxes in the treatment room. Inspectors noted that there was solution in the syringe covers to indicate that these had been used.
- A member of staff was observed completing an activity with a patient. While the staff member removed gloves and carried out hand washing

they did not remove their apron before getting a urinal for the same patient.

- A Haz-tab, rather than an Actichlor Plus disinfectant dilution poster was present in the dirty utility room for nursing staff.
- Nursing staff were unfamiliar with the NPSA cleaning colour coded system in use.

Additional Issues

- Tubs of wipes were observed in the patient toilets. During inspection these were open and have the potential to dry out and become contaminated, if toilet seats are not put down before flushing.
- Inspectors were advised that there is no ward pharmacist. This can have an impact and cause delayed patient discharge.
- The ward has an escalation bed which is located in the corner of the communal patient dining area. This position is not ideal and has implications for maintaining patient privacy and dignity, especially during mealtimes.

11.0 Key Personnel and Information

Members of the RQIA inspection team

Mrs S O'Connor	-	Inspector, Infection Prevention/Hygiene Team
Mr T Hughes	-	Inspector, Infection Prevention/Hygiene Team

Trust representatives attending the feedback session

The key findings of the inspection were outlined to the following trust representatives:

Ms B McDowell - Anderson	-	Clinical Manager, Lagan Valley, Downe & OPD
Ms J Clarke	-	Senior Manager, Patient Experience
Mr R Gray	-	Charge Nurse, CCU
Ms J Cairns	-	Sister, Ward 14
Mr C Campbell	-	Safe & Effective Care Manager
Mr J Robinson	-	Estates Officer
Ms J Porter	-	Infection Prevention & Control Nurse
Ms M Dryden	-	Patient Experience Manager
Ms G Kennedy	-	Staff Nurse, Ward 14
Ms N McConnell	-	Staff Nurse, Ward 14

12.0 Summary of Recommendations

Recommendations

Standard 2: Environment

- 1. Staff should ensure that all surfaces are clean and free from dust, dirt and stains.
- 2. A maintenance programme should be in place for damaged surfaces, fixtures and fittings. Damaged equipment should be replaced and hand washing sinks and consumables installed as required.
- 3. Staff should review arrangements for storage to ensure best use of the facilities and maintain a clutter free environment.
- 4. Shower privacy curtains and call bells should be present and accessible in the shower room.
- 5. Nursing cleaning schedules should be completed.
- 6. Information posters on hand hygiene should be displayed at all hand washing sinks. Posters on the NPSA colour coded guidelines should be available for nursing staff.

Standard 3: Linen

- 7. Staff should ensure that the linen store room is clean, tidy and free from inappropriate items.
- 8. Staff should ensure that used linen is segregated into the correct linen stream and stored in linen bags no more than 2/3 full.

Standard 4: Waste and Sharps

- 9. Staff should ensure waste is disposed of into the correct waste stream in accordance with trust policy.
- 10. Staff should ensure that waste bins are clean and in a good repair.
- 11. Staff should ensure that sharps boxes are assembled and labelled correctly.

Standard 5: Patient Equipment

12. All equipment should be clean, stored correctly and in a good state of repair. Staff should be aware of their roles and responsibilities in relation to equipment cleaning.

- 13. Staff should ensure stock rotation is carried out.
- 14. Signage should be in place on the treatment room door to denote the storage of oxygen.

Standard 6: Hygiene Factors

- 15. The ratio of clinical hand washing sinks should be in line with local/national guidance. Dedicated hand washing sinks should be available in the treatment room and dirty utility room.
- 16. Staff should ensure that hand hygiene consumables are clean and in a good state of repair. Hand moisturiser should be available for staff to use.
- 17. Domestic staff should ensure all cleaning equipment is clean, stored correctly and in a good state of repair.

Standard 7: Hygiene Practices

- 18. Ward staff should ensure they comply with the 7-step hand hygiene technique in line with the WHO 5 moments for hand hygiene.
- 19. Needles should not be re-sheathed.
- 20. Staff should ensure PPE is removed on completion of a task.
- 21. An Actichlor Plus disinfectant dilution poster should be in place in the dirty utility room. Wipes should be stored with their lids closed to prevent contamination.
- 22. Nursing staff should ensure they are familiar with the NPSA colour coding guidance for cleaning equipment.

Additional Issues

- 23. The need for a ward pharmacist to assist with patient discharges should be reviewed.
- 24. The position and use of an escalation bed should be reviewed to ensure patients privacy and dignity is maintained at all times.

13.0 Unannounced Inspection Flowchart



Plan Programme

Episode of Inspection

Reporting & Re-Audit

14.0 Escalation Process





15.0 Quality Improvement Action Plan Lagan Valley Hospital

Ref number	Reco	ommendation	IS	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale		
Standard 2: Environment								
1	Staff should ensure that all surfaces are clean and free from dust, dirt and stains.	Nursing Patient Experience	 will ensure that the Main reception The ward manager expected completion All dusty surfaces h Discussion has take scheduling, cleaning cleaning and robust environment. Discussed at staff n identification for image Ward staff advised Hygiene and cleaning Trust General Com The Trust has envir risk and best praction monitor in accordar 	standard is mai has reported all on timescale for have been clean en place with Pa og and monitorin at monitoring is in meeting and stat mediate address to minimise clut liness to feature ment ronmental clean ce guidelines. A nce with assess	I Estates issues and has a job number and each item reported. ed. atient Experience Manager regarding g to ensure that a suitable frequency of n place to ensure a suitably-maintained ff advised to report cleaning issues upon	Immediate response plus improved monitoring / reporting by Nursing and effective cleaning schedule to be maintained by Patient Experience Team.		

Ref number	Recommendations			Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
			part of the perform environmental clea Trust Board. There Group in the Trust The Trust operate Programme that s learning, knowled cleanliness issues	mance manage nliness steering e is a very pro- where detailed of eeks and monitor eeks to ensure ge and perfor including all s requiring impro-	regularly in response to audit results and ment process and governed through the committee. Reports are regularly tabled at active Environmental Cleanliness Steering liscussion is undertaken. The sa Hygiene and Cleanliness Checklist high standards of quality regarding staff mance in relation to all hygiene and those arising from experience of RQIA ovement are raised and discussed at staff currence.	
2	A maintenance programme should be in place for damaged surfaces, fixtures and fittings. Damaged equipment should be replaced and hand washing sinks and consumables installed as required.	Nursing, Pt Exp and Estates	Estates for early ap completion date). I meetings. A review of hand w Ward staff have be maintain effective r Ward staff advised ensure servicing of Trust General Com A programme of int	opropriate respo Maintenance to rashing sinks wil en advised to re replenishment pi to maintain con replenishment i ment ernal audits is c for action – in a	sumable stock at appropriate level to requirements. urrently carried out by Estates to identify ddition an annual programme for	Immediate reporting of all maintenance issues for Estates response (job number and expected date of completion per item). A review will take place to assess position regarding hand washing sinks (April 2014)

Ref number	Reco	mmendation	IS	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
			and actions are one A programme of en priority areas for re	going on a daily ivironmental auc pair – in additior would monitor co	porting system) system is in place to report basis. lits is currently carried out to identify a programme for environmental ompliance with standards and identify	with actions identified to be completed within minimum timeframe (tbc). Management of consumables to be addressed through daily monitoring and address at ward staff meetings.
3	Staff should review arrangements for storage to ensure best use of the facilities and maintain a clutter free environment.	Patient Experience	a high standard as Regular monitoring Staff were advised storage / declutter A review of storage improve storage us	a continuing prie and reinforcem regarding the in programme. arrangements a (locations and	ent arrangements are now in place. Inportance of maintaining an effective thas taken place and action taken to	Staff advised immediately to address storage / clutter issues. Daily monitoring in place to embed improved approach / compliance.

Ref number	Reco	mmendation	S	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
4	Shower privacy curtains and call bells should be present and accessible in the shower room.	Nursing and Patient Experience	Trust General Com As per Trust Enviro ensure a clutter-free LVH Ward 14 There is no need for Shower curtain wou shower and door is facility at any time. Shower unit is encl No action taken to assessment of show with actions identifie Trust General Com The Trust operates	ment mental Cleanli <u>e environment a</u> or shower curtair uld be a hindran kept closed. Th osed and should date. A review w wer room (to inc ed raised for ea ment a system of env	and vigilant clutter-free policy. ness strategy, staff are encouraged to nd audit activity monitors compliance. ns. Almost all patients require assistance. ce. If patient can self-shower, patient uses here is only one patient using the shower d not bring about a splash / slip risk. will take place w/c 07.04.2014 for orporate consideration of RQIA comments) rly completion. vironmental audits within its environmental identify and report such issues for action.	No action taken. Review w/c 07.04.2014 to take place with early completion of identified actions (31.05.2014.)
5	Nursing cleaning schedules should be completed.	Nursing	schedules on a con Monitoring arrange The importance of documentation has	ntinuing basis. ments are in pla maintaining high been discussed	n complete documentation of cleaning ce to manage compliance. n-quality performance cleaning and I with staff individually and as a group. sely to ensure that all staff deliver on this	Immediate address of issue by ward manager, Plan in place to monitor, challenge and improve performance to

Ref number	Reco	ommendation	IS	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
			consistent complian Ward Manager to re Trust General Com The Trust has lates accordance with ris programme is in pla of escalation is in s Cleaning schedules part of the performa Environmental Clean progressively devel decontamination pr	nt performance / reinforce at ward ment st nursing cleaning ace to monitor in itu to highlight it s are reviewed re ance manageme anliness Steering lop a harmonise rocess for equipres		accelerate embedded high standards of practice.
6	Information posters on hand hygiene should be displayed at all hand washing sinks. Posters on the NPSA colour coded guidelines should be available for nursing staff.	Nursing	to hand hygiene an Trust General Com The Trust has deve guide directs staff a should be present i	ninded staff of im nd NPSA colour- ament eloped a hygiene as to all key hygi in clinical areas,	portance of knowledge of and adherence	Actioned immediately.

	Ref Recommendation			าร	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
Sta	andard	3: Linen					
	linen store room is clean, tidy and free from inappropriate			staff accordingly improvement and c	and regular n compliance.	ts have been highlighted to LVH Ward 14 nonitoring will support continual quality	Ward Manager has promoted compliance to staff.
			Manager has disc	ussed proper s	supervisor for action as required. Ward torage processes and has reinforced the y stored in the linen store.	Formal monitoring arrangement is in place.	
				Ward Manager has discussed with staff regarding appropriate storage levels and placement in linen store and has highlighted the importance of not in order hampering cleaning access.			Regular focus at staff meeting.
7				Local monitoring hygiene and clea compliance and the			
				Trust General Com All linen is delivered by laundry staff who	d to the door of t	the ward in an uncovered trolley or hamper inen store.	
				Clean linen must transportation and Current linen mar	ol Manual has a be protected stored in a clear nagement arran	section pertaining to laundry and states: from moisture and contaminants during a, dry area to maintain its clean state. Igements place responsibility with Ward the linen cupboards.	
				The linen store is ir	ncluded in cleani	ng schedules.	

n	Ref umber	Reco	mmendation	IS	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
					isits to monitor	ection Prevention and Control audits and implementation of policies and procedures	
8 St	linen is correct stored than 2/	hould ensure that used segregated into the linen stream and in linen bags no more 3 full. 4: Waste and Sharps	Nursing and IPC	has been highlighte Monitoring arrange management obser focused upon at wa Trust General Com The Trust operates	ed to staff. ments are in pla rvations will be h ard staff meeting ment a range of Infect sits to monitor in	inen (to include segregation and fill levels) ce. IPC audit findings and daily ward highlighted to staff on a daily basis and us. ction Prevention and Control audits and nplementation of policies and procedures	Reinforcement message communicated to staff. Monitoring with response to non- compliance is in place.
9	dispo waste with ti	should ensure waste is sed of into the correct e stream in accordance rust policy.	Nursing and IPC	processes. Ward Manager has importance of adhe management will ta with immediate cha Ward staff will use	communicated erence to Trust p ake place to mor allenge and high the Trust Hygier	compliance with waste management correct waste disposal processes and policy. Daily checks by ward nursing nitor compliance. Non-compliance is met lighting at ward staff meetings. ne and Cleanliness Self Assessment Tool gaps and to reinforce existing knowledge to	Compliance instruction issued to staff without delay. Arrangements in place to support improved staff knowledge and monitoring of practice.

	Ref mber	Reco	mmendation	s	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
	waste	should ensure that bins are clean and in d repair.	Nursing and IPC	ward staff. Trust General Com The Trust has a cle and periodic audits improvement action boxes undertake a ward receives the r link meeting and is half-day educationation to any issues identi The Trust' RQIA Hy ensure that instruct regional waste man LVH Ward 14 has r monitor. Trust General Com	ment ar policy on mai are scheduled t are scheduled t th. The IPC Team trustwide policy eport on their au included in the I al session. Train fied. /giene and Clea ion and practice agement guidar	ed and rusted bin and will continue to	Bin replaced without delay. Staff advised to report any
10					are scheduled t	nagement of waste and disposal of sharps o monitor compliance and inform	to report any item for repair / replacement immediately upon identification.
11	sharp	should ensure that is boxes are nbled and labelled ctly.	Nursing and Patient Experience	LVH Ward 14 Staff have been rer as per Trust policy.		priate sharps box assembly and labelling	Staff advised re: compliant assembly and labelling.

R	ef nber	Reco	mmendation	s	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
				Ward 14 monitoring implementation of <i>R</i> Sharps management meetings. Trust General Com The Trust has a cle and periodic audits improvement action The Hygiene and C learning and knowle sharps.	Monitoring and reinforcement arrangements in place.		
	All equi clean, s in a goo Staff sh their ro respons	: Patient Equipment ipment should be stored correctly and od state of repair. hould be aware of les and sibilities in relation to hent cleaning.	Nursing and Patient Experience	to equipment clean The importance of o with staff and highli Staff have been ren Staff have been ad identification. Monitoring is in place	ing. effective equipm ighted at ward si minded of approp vised to report re ce. IPC audits v	nded of roles and responsibilities in relation ent cleaning has been raised individually aff meetings. priate storage of equipment, epair items for action immediately upon vard management checks and unliness checklist support monitoring	Ward management has addressed promotion re: staff knowledge / compliance, monitoring arrangements are in place and related feedback / reinforcement is addressed

	Ref mber	Reco	mmendation	s	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale	
				Steps have been ta equipment. Trust General Com The Trust has a pol equipment. Interna compliance and are	Frust General Comment The Trust has a policy on the management, cleaning and storage of equipment. Internal audit programme is in place to monitor level of compliance and areas. The Trust is completing development and introduction of standardised documentation.			
13		should ensure stock on is carried out.	Nursing and Patient Experience	<i>Ward Manager mor</i> Trust General Com The Trust has a pol equipment. Interna	nitors and reinfo ment licy on the mana I audit programi eas. The Trust is	nded to carry out regular stock rotation. rces instruction. gement, cleaning and storage of ne is in place to monitor level of s completing development and introduction	Actioned and reinforcement communication issued by ward manager.	
14	on the	ge should be in place treatment room door note the storage of n.	Nursing	Trust General Com The Trust has a pol	ment licy on the mana I audit programi	f of oxygen storage notice. gement, cleaning and storage of ne is in place to monitor level of	Jan 2014 completion.	

	Ref Recommendation			S	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
Sta	ndard	6: Hygiene Factors					
15	 The ratio of clinical hand washing sinks should be in line with local/national guidance. Dedicated hand washing sinks should be available in the treatment room and dirty utility room. 		met at present. It is compliance will be a plan not proceed, a explored, planned a Timeframe – Plann 2014. Whilst reloca confirmation. No action will be tak relocation. Relocat washing sinks to m of status regarding	s planned that th incorporated into resolution to the and actioned. ed ward relocati ation is fully expe ken regarding ha tion will resolve of eet local / nation hand washing s	bedded bays, the 1 to 4 ratio will not be be ward will relocate during 2014 and to the relocation plan. Should the relocation is issue at the current venue will be on is expected to complete by December ected, Ward Manager awaits 100% and washing sinks in advance of current issues regarding provision of hand hal guidance. Ward Manager is conscious ink provision requirements as per te resolution should existing relocation plan	Pending confirmation of decision re: 2014 ward relocation	
16	hand are cl state moist	should ensure that hygiene consumables ean and in a good of repair. Hand uriser should be able for staff to use.	Nursing and Patient Experience	regular basis – loca ensure that the war running out. Staff instructed to re damaged dispense needed at present.	al stock managel rd maintains a le eport items for re rs have been res provided with ine	nded to maintain cleaning & refilling on a ment process has been addressed to vel of stock to cover usage level without epair upon identification. Issues regarding solved – no further replacement / repair dividual moisturiser.	Instruction communicated to staff. Monitoring to support compliance is in place.

	Ref mber	Reco	mmendation	s	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
17	ensur equip	estic staff should re all cleaning ment is clean, stored ctly and in a good state pair.	Patient Experience	priority areas for re identify required ac <i>LVH Ward 14</i> <i>Patient Experience</i> <i>cleaning and storag</i> <i>Suction equipment</i> <i>requiring replaceme</i> <i>Equipment has bee</i> <i>practice and monito</i> <i>maintaining standa</i> <i>Staff advised to rais</i> <i>immediately upon i</i> Trust General Com The Trust has a po equipment. Interna compliance and are	pair and would r tion to address. Manager has re- ge of all equipme has been replace ent. en cleaned to recoring arrangeme rd of cleaning. se cleaning / rep dentification. ment licy on the mana al audit program eas.	its is currently carried out to identify nonitor compliance with standards and minded staff of correct procedure for ent red. There is currently no other equipment quired standard. Staff advised of correct nts are in place. Ward currently air / replacement issues for action gement, cleaning and storage of cleaning ne is in place to monitor level of nt and introduction of standardised	Management have reinforced cleaning standards instruction to staff. Replacement completed. Cleaning standard maintained and monitoring in place through audit and observation
Sta 18	Ward they c hand	7: Hygiene Practices staff should ensure comply with the 7-step hygiene technique in vith the WHO 5	Nursing and IPC			and hygiene process requirements and the en positioned at appropriate ward	Ward Manager has addressed staff regarding knowledge and

	Ref Recommendation			IS	Designated department	Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
	mome	ents for hand hygiene.			ment e internal audits	ce. on hand hygiene compliance and this is ent audits undertaken by the IPC team	compliance re: hand hygiene. Posters have been positioned
				and others. These f many strands of pe the HCAI steering g Trust policy and wil	findings are repo rformance mana group and the IP I be audited as p	orted and reviewed monthly through the agement and accountability as well as at CC. This forms part of Trust training and part on internal programme of audits reas from RQIA cleanliness and hygiene	appropriately. Monitoring arrangements are in place.
	Needl sheatl	es should not be re- ned.	Nursing and IPC	staff and advised of Monitoring arrange of needles (to inclu	f appropriate pro ments – staff ha de compliance r blace to monitor	ve been instructed re: management / use egarding non-resheathing). Direct practice and the point will continue to be	Staff instructed re: correct practice. Practice observed to monitor compliance.
19				and periodic audi improvement action The Hygiene and C	ear policy on ma its are schedu n. Ileanliness Cheo	nagement of waste and disposal of sharps led to monitor compliance and inform klist Programme supports continuing staff correct handling and disposal of waste and	Instruction reinforced by management to embed compliance.

	Ref mber	Reco	Recommendations			Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
		should ensure PPE is ved on completion of a	Nursing and IPC	guidance – immedi should be dispose	ately upon comp d of. The wa	o staff the necessity to comply with PPE oletion of action with individual patient PPE rd will regularly monitor PPE compliance ne use of the Hygiene and Cleanliness	Importance of compliant practice highlighted to staff without delay.
20				through team mee training and Trust p audits against recu hygiene reviews.	guides on the tings and news policy and will be urring non-comp	use of PPE and this issue is highlighted sletter updates. This forms part of Trust e audited as part on internal programme of pliance areas from RQIA cleanliness and	Further monitoring through direct observation and implementation of Hygiene and Cleanliness
				supported by a system and others. These	stem of indeper findings are re erformance mar	s on IPC / hygiene compliance and this is indent audits undertaken by the IPC team ported and reviewed monthly through the nagement and accountability as well as at CC.	Checklist.
21	disinfe should dirty u should lids cl	ctichlor Plus ectant dilution poster d be in place in the utility room. Wipes d be stored with their osed to prevent mination.	Nursing, IPC and Patient Experience	LVH Ward 14 Manager has access Staff have been ad Trust General Com The Trust operatess addresses training, basis with compreh place. IPC Team	ssed and installe vised re: complia ment a range of infe awareness, co ensive audit, me supports appro	ed appropriate poster immediately. ant storage of wipes. ection, prevention and control policies and mpliance and improvement on an ongoing easurement and reporting arrangements in priate practice in a live day-to-day way nsuring appropriate practice by direct visits	Poster placement completed without delay. Ward Manager has instructed staff re: importance of adhering to compliant level of practice.

Ref numb		KACO				Action required	Date for completion/ timescale
	1	Nursing staff should ensure	Nursing,	staff meetings. This audited as part on i compliance areas f	s forms part of T nternal program rom RQIA clean a sheets. All are	lighted to staff through newsletters and rust training and Trust policy and will be me of audits against recurring non- liness and hygiene reviews (including the eas have access to dilution charts and IPC ge and practice.	Ward level
2	t N Q	they are familiar with the NPSA colour coding guidance for cleaning equipment.	IPC and Patient Experience	NPSA colour-codin Ward staff have be regarding the NPS/ hygiene and cleanl knowledge and incl pocket-sized bookle Trust General Com The Trust operates addresses training, basis with compreh place. Good practic teaching and ensur areas.	en reminded to A colour coding iness self-asses Judes NPSA colo et. ment a range of infect awareness, cor ensive audit, me e is supported i ing appropriate	Play. ensure that they are knowledgeable guidance for cleaning equipment. A staff sment tool has been designed to support bur-coding (launched as e-learning tool and etion, prevention and control policies and inpliance and improvement on an ongoing easurement and reporting arrangements in in a live day-to-day way through monitoring, practice by IPC direct visits to clinical splayed in all clinical areas. Management te to ensure robust individual level of	knowledge addressed by Ward Manager. Continued and wider learning to be supported through production of booklet and self- assessment e- learning tool.

	Ref Ref	Recommendations			Action required	Date for completion/ timescale					
Additional Issues											
23	The need for a ward pharmacist to assist with patient discharges should be reviewed.		register. It is noted LVH Ward 14 has i LVH Band 6 pharm service will take pla areas as per numb have been raised a service. Trust General Com The Trust has a po manage ward pharm	I that the profile increased recent ace to ensure that er of patients / to is baseline fundi iment licy in place to a macy priorities. r Lessons Learn	Ward 14 has been added to the risk and turnover of patients / discharges at ity. During April 2014, a review of DH / ace. A review of existing clinical pharmacy at clinical staff are working in appropriate urnover. Additional funding requirements ing will not extend to provision of additional additional funding requirements and a Medicines Management Group to Monitoring arrangements are in place and t Sub Committee and safety & Quality	Review will take place April 2014.					
24	The position and use of an escalation bed should be reviewed to ensure patients privacy and dignity is maintained at all times.	Nursing	to ensure that patie maintained. Monito been in use since F management of est Trust General Com The Trust has a po experience of RQIA to ensure that Trus	ent safety needs oring arrangeme RQIA inspection calation bed rais ment licy on the mana A inspection proo twide managem	of escalation bed and have been reminded are met and privacy and dignity is nts are in place. Escalation bed has not took place. Further focus upon quality of ed through RQIA Review of Older People. Agement of escalation beds. Through cess, wider learning process will take place ent of escalation beds ensures that patient ties are reliably upheld.	Priority focus that high quality patient safety and experience is maintained in instances where escalation bed will be used.					



The **Regulation** and **Quality Improvement** Authority

The Regulation and Quality Improvement Authority 9th Floor Riverside Tower 5 Lanyon Place BELFAST BT1 3BT

Tel: (028) 9051 7500 Fax: (028) 9051 7501 Email: info@rqia.org.uk Web: www.rqia.org.uk